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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT KNOXVILLE 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) 

   ) 

  Plaintiff, ) 

   ) No. 3:13-CR-10 

v.   )  

   ) (REEVES / SHIRLEY) 

CLIFFORD LEON HOUSTON, )  

   )  

  Defendant. ) 

 

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 
 

 All pretrial motions in this case have been referred to the undersigned pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 636(b) for disposition or report and recommendation regarding disposition by the 

District Court as may be appropriate.  This case is before the Court on the Defendant’s pro se 

Motion to Sever Counts in the Superseding Indictment [Doc. 106], and his Motion to Appoint 

Counsel to Represent the Defendant on Count 2 . . . of [the] Indictment [Doc. 110], both of 

which were filed on June 3, 2013. The Court held a hearing on the Defendant’s motions on June 

26, 2013. Assistant United States Attorney David C. Jennings appeared on behalf of the 

Government. Defendant Houston represented himself with the assistance of elbow counsel 

Charles I. Poole.
1
 The Court heard the parties’ arguments and took the Defendant’s motions 

under advisement.  

 

I. POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES 

 The Defendant was originally charged in an Indictment [Doc. 6] on January 15, 2013. 

The Indictment alleged that on or about January 11, 2013, the Defendant knowingly possessed a 

                                                           
1
 The Defendant was initially represented by court-appointed counsel.  On March 4, 2013, the Defendant asked to 

represent himself with the assistance of elbow counsel.  The Court advised the Defendant of the risks and perils of 

representing himself using the litany provided in United States v. McDowell, 814 F.3d 245, 251 (6th Cir. 1987).  

Despite the Court’s advice, the Defendant chose and the Court permitted [Doc. 37] the Defendant to represent 

himself.  The Court appointed [Doc. 38] Attorney Charles I. Poole to serve as elbow counsel.   
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firearm while being an unlawful user of a controlled substance in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 

922(g)(3). On May 7, 2013, a Superseding Indictment [Doc. 92] was filed. Along with forfeiture 

allegations, the Superseding Indictment added Count Two. Count Two charges that on or about 

February 10, 2013, the Defendant knowingly and willfully communicated to Pat Honeycutt, via 

telephone, a threat to kill James F. Logan, Jr., an attorney practicing in the Eastern District of 

Tennessee, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 875(c).  

 The Defendant’s motion [Doc. 106] requests that the Court sever the Counts in the 

Superseding Indictment. The Defendant argues that Count Two will be prejudicial to Count One 

and therefore “taint the proceedings.” In addition, the Defendant asserts that joinder of the 

offenses denies him the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury as provided by the Sixth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution. At the hearing, the Defendant further explained 

that Count Two was unrelated to Count One and that they should be severed. He asserted that the 

two counts share no common ground and that it is prejudicial to try the counts together.  

 The Government responds [Doc. 118] that the Defendant has no reasonable argument for 

severing the offenses. The Government argues that Count Two can in no way prejudice Count 

One. The Government admits, however, that Counts One and Two are not “two or more acts or 

transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan” as 

contemplated under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 8(a). However, the Government submits 

that they are factually intertwined by the fact that the Defendant was incarcerated on Count One 

when he used the jail’s telephone system to communicate the threat, which is the basis for Count 

Two. Finally, the Government asserts that prejudice can be avoided by instructing the jury that 

the evidence presented as to one can in no way be used as evidence of guilt on the other.  
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II. ANALYSIS 

 As mentioned above, the Defendant was charged in a two-count Superseding Indictment 

[Doc. 92]. The Court will first analyze whether severance is appropriate and then turn to the 

Defendant’s request for an attorney as to Count Two.  

 

(a) Severance 

 A defendant may move for severance under Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 8 and 

14. However, the two Rules address two different situations.  Rule 8 authorizes the defendant to 

move for severance when joinder is improper. See Fed. R. Crim. P. 8(a). On the other hand, a 

motion pursuant to Rule 14 asserts that joinder is proper but nevertheless prejudicial to the 

defendant. See Fed. R. Crim. P. 14(a). In the Defendant’s instant motion [Doc. 106], he asserts 

that joinder is prejudicial. However, at the hearing, he also argued that Counts One and Two 

were uncommon and unrelated. Although the Defendant did not specifically cite Rule 8, the 

Defendant’s oral argument demonstrated that he believed that joinder was improper because the 

two charges are wholly unrelated. Accordingly, the Court will analyze the Defendant’s argument 

under Rule 8(a). 

 Rule 8(a) sets forth the conditions under which multiple offenses may be joined in a 

single indictment. Specifically, the Rule states: 

The indictment or information may charge a defendant in separate 

counts with 2 or more offenses if the offenses charged--whether 

felonies or misdemeanors or both--are of the same or similar 

character, or are based on the same act or transaction, or are 

connected with or constitute parts of a common scheme or plan.   

 

Fed. R. Crim. P. 8(a). The spirit of Rule 8(a) is to “promote the goals of trial convenience and 

judicial economy.” United States v. Graham, 275 F.3d 490, 512 (6th Cir. 2001). Courts have held 

that Rule 8 “should be construed in favor of joinder, [but] it is also true that failure to meet the 
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requirements of this rule constitutes misjoinder as a matter of law.” United States v. Chavis, 296 

F.3d 450, 456 (6th Cir. 2002) (quoting United States v. Hatcher, 680 F.2d 438, 440 (6th Cir. 

1982)). If joinder of multiple offenses does not comply with the requirements of Rule 8, “the 

district court has ‘no discretion on the question of severance.’” Id. (quoting Hatcher, 680 F.2d at 

441). Finally, a court determines whether joinder was proper “by the allegations on the face of 

the indictment.” Chavis, 296 F.3d at 456.  

 Upon review of the Superseding Indictment in this case, the Court finds that, as a matter 

of law, Count One and Count Two were improperly joined. There is no evidence or allegation in 

the Superseding Indictment suggesting that the Defendant’s alleged use of a controlled substance 

while possessing a firearm (Count One) was part of “the same act or transaction” as the alleged 

threat on Attorney Logan’s life (Count Two). See Fed. R. Crim. P. 8(a). Nor is there any 

allegation that the two offenses were otherwise “connected together or constituting parts of a 

common scheme or plan.” See Fed. R. Crim. P. 8(a). In fact, the Government admits that Count 

One and Count Two do not involve the same act or transaction or a common scheme or plan. 

[Doc. 118 at 3].  

 The Government argues that both Counts are factually intertwined because the Defendant 

was incarcerated on Count One when he made the alleged threat constituting Count Two.  This is 

wholly insufficient to show that the Counts are related. The question as to why the Defendant 

was incarcerated when he made the alleged threat is irrelevant to whether the Defendant made 

the threat at all.
2
 Accordingly, the Court finds that the two Counts are not of the same act or 

transaction and do not involve a common scheme or plan. Therefore, the Government’s case for 

joinder depends upon whether the two offenses were of the “same or similar character.” See Fed. 

R. Crim. P. 8(a). 

                                                           
2
 Furthermore, the Court notes that the reason the Defendant is incarcerated may even be excluded as bad character 

evidence pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b).  
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 The Court finds that possessing a firearm while using a controlled substance is not the 

“same or similar character” as threating a person’s life via telephone. Count One and Count Two 

are entirely distinct offenses. Furthermore, the Court notes that the joinder of the two offenses in 

the instant case offers minimal advantages in terms of judicial efficiency, “which we have 

identified as the ‘predominant consideration’ in assessing the propriety of joinder.’” Chavis, 296 

F.3d at 460 (quoting United States v. Swift, 809 F.2d 320, 322 (6th Cir. 1987)). Because the 

offenses arise out of a separate and unrelated transaction, “there is likely to be little saving in 

time and money in having a single trial.” Id. (quoting Charles Alan Wright, 1A Federal Practice 

& Procedure: Criminal § 143, at 40) (3d ed. 1999)). In the instant case, there is no overlap in the 

proof required to prove the two offenses, and they do not spring from the same series of events 

or factual background. Id.; see also United States v. Halper, 590 F.2d 422, 430 (2d Cir. 1978) 

(finding that the advantages of joinder “largely disappear” when there is no common factual 

basis for two offenses).  

 The Court finds that as a matter of law, Count One and Count Two of the Superseding 

Indictment were improperly joined under Rule 8(a). Because the Court finds the Counts were 

improperly joined, there is no need to decide whether the Defendant will be prejudiced by 

joinder. See Chavis, 296 F.3d at 457 (“Rule 14 authorizes a defendant to move for severance in 

situations in which joinder of multiple offenses or defendants is proper under Rule 8, but 

nonetheless would be prejudicial to the defendant.”). Accordingly, the Defendant’s Motion to 

Sever the Counts in the Superseding Indictment [Doc. 106] is GRANTED. 

 

(b) Request for Assistance of Counsel 

 The Defendant requests [Doc. 110] for assistance of counsel with regard to his charge 

under 18 U.S.C. § 875(c) (formerly known as “Count Two” of the Superseding Indictment).  
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 “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance 

of Counsel for his defense.” U.S. Const. amend. VI. This “language encompasses a guarantee of  

. . . the right of indigents to appointed counsel in felony prosecutions[.]” Wilson v. Mintzes, 761 

F.2d 275, 279 (6th Cir. 1985) (citing Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963)). Based upon 

the Defendant’s financial affidavit [Doc. 3], the Court has determined that the Defendant 

qualifies for appointed counsel. The Defendant’s motion for the appointment of counsel [Doc. 

110] is GRANTED. Because Attorney Poole is familiar with the Defendant’s case and has 

advised the Defendant as elbow counsel since March 2013, the Court finds that Attorney Poole 

should represent the Defendant on the alleged violation of 18 U.S.C. § 875(c), provided that 

Attorney Poole is willing to do so. The Court DIRECTS Attorney Poole to advise the Clerk of 

Court as to whether he is willing to accept the Defendant’s case.  

 

III. CONCLUSION 

 After considering the parties’ filings, arguments, and relevant legal authority, the Court 

finds the Defendant’s pro se Motion to Sever the Counts in the Superseding Indictment [Doc. 

106] and the Motion to Appoint Counsel to Represent the Defendant on Count 2 . . . of [the] 

Indictment [Doc. 110] are GRANTED. The trial as to Count One remains scheduled for August 

6, 2013, at 9:00 a.m.  The Court will reschedule the trial on the 18 U.S.C. § 875(c) charge 

(formerly known as “Count Two”) at the pretrial conference scheduled on July 22, 2013 at 9:30 

a.m. The Clerk of Court is DIRECTED to mail a copy of this Order to the Defendant at the 

Blount Count Jail.  

 IT IS SO ORDERED. 

                                      ENTER: 

 

       s/ C. Clifford Shirley, Jr.    

      United States Magistrate Judge 
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